THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No: 2016-CP-26-1961  
Appellate Case No.: 2018-000852

---

RECEIVED  
APR 08 2019  
SC Court of Appeals

S. Scott Porter, Individually and as Co-Trustee of The Stanley  
Scott Porter Trust UA dated January 2, 1991, a member of  
Peaceful Lane MHP, LLC ..... Respondent,

v.

Kenneth Hucks, Individually and as a member and formerly  
designated manager of Peaceful Lane MHP, LLC ..... Appellant

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Richard R. Gleissner, Esquire  
Lukas R. Gleissner, Esquire  
Gleissner Law Firm, LLC

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. *Whether the involuntary repossession of the Appellant's property under the terms of the obligation is an intentional acknowledgment or new promise of the debt sufficient to toll the statute of limitations*
- II. *Whether the Appellant waived the application of the Uniform Commercial Code to the obligation between the parties by failing to specifically reference the code in his pleadings?*
- III. *Whether the admission of impermissible hearsay evidence that was relied upon by the jury for purposes of finding damages should have resulted in a new trial?*

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Stanley Scott Porter Trust UA dated January 2, 1991 (the "Respondent") brought this action on a note against Kenneth Hucks (the "Appellant") on March 21, 2016, designated as Civil Action Number 2016-CP-26-01961. (R.pp. 9-21) Appellant filed and served on Respondent their Answer and Counterclaim on June 9, 2016. (R.pp. 22-29) A trial was had on February 20, 2018 through the 21<sup>st</sup> of 2018. (R.p. 115) On February 21, 2018, the trial court entered a decision in conformity with the verdict of the Jury. Appellants moved the trial court for a new trial and judgment notwithstanding the Verdict on March 2, 2018. (R.p. 91) On April 23, 2018, the trial court denied the motions of Appellants. (R.p. 4) Appellant timely filed a notice of appeal.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

"The standard of review for an appeal of an action at law tried by a jury is restricted to corrections of errors of law." *Felder v. K-Mart Corp.*, 297 S.C. 446, 448, 377 S.E.2d 332, 333 (1989). A factual finding of the jury will not be disturbed unless there is no evidence which reasonably supports the finding. *Id.*

## FACTS

This is a breach of contract case involving a secured loan resulting from money loaned to the Appellant by the Respondent. The loan was dated May 6, 2011 and had a maturity date of November 5, 2011. As part of the loan, the Appellant pledged his interest in a company he shared ownership in with the Respondent, Peaceful Lane MHP, LLC (the "Collateral"). After the loan matured, the parties began discussions concerning potentially paying off the loan. Ultimately no payment was made after an initial \$1,000 payment in August of 2011.

The Respondent filed the Complaint and alleges that the loan was never paid and credits the amount owed only that \$1000 initial payment. The Appellant answered by asserting that the Respondent brought the action too late and that the Respondent inappropriately took the Collateral and failed to pay the Appellant his share of any surplus from his interest in the Collateral the Respondent took.

Discovery and dispositive motions were completed and trial was had on the action starting February 20, 2018 and finishing on February 21, 2018. The only witnesses presented to the trial court was S. Scott Porter ("Mr. Porter"), on behalf of the Respondent, and the Appellant. Therein Appellant's counsel made several motions including a motion for directed verdict based upon the application of the statute of limitations and a motion to exclude the admission of a certain email that contained reference to an appraisal of the Collateral. Both Motions were denied by the trial court. Finally, Appellant's counsel moved to have certain law charged to the jury concerning how the uniform commercial code has certain requirements of lenders when seeking a deficiency after taking collateral. The trial judge, again, denied the Appellant's motion. The jury ultimately rendered judgment for the Respondent for \$218,000, an amount that can only reasonably be tied to the

calculations contained in the inadmissible email allowed into evidence, Plaintiff's Exhibit 2 (the "Email"). (R.p. 293) The Appellant moved for judgment notwithstanding the verdict and for a new trial. These motions were also denied.

### **LEGAL ARGUMENT**

The Trial Court erred in not granting the Defendant either a judgment notwithstanding the verdict or a new trial. The statute of limitations as to the Plaintiff's action was not tolled by the involuntary repossession of collateral securing the obligation. Similarly, the law established by the uniform commercial code cannot be waived by a party by failing to specifically raise its relevance in the initial pleadings. Finally, the evidence relied upon by the Jury in making its determination of damages was inadmissible and grounds for new trial. Therefore, the trial court's Order denying the Defendant judgment notwithstanding the verdict or, in the alternative, a new trial should be reversed.

#### **A. The Statute of Limitations Barred the Respondent's Claim**

The trial court concluded in error that if "there is any evidence that supports" a finding that the Collateral was taken and applied against the debt with the acquiescence of the Appellant, the statute of limitation does not apply. (R.p. 200, lines 15-16) This conclusion is erroneous because the three year statute of limitations is not tolled based upon an allegedly unwritten understanding among the parties regarding possession of collateral. The claims based upon breach of contract by the Respondent were barred by the applicable statute of limitations and judgment should have been given to Appellant upon the Respondent's claims.

The Respondent failed to present the evidence necessary to avoid having his claim barred by the applicable statute of limitations. South Carolina law provides that the action brought by

the Respondent must be commenced within three years of the breach of the contract. See S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530. The Respondent brought the underlying claim more than three years after the breach of the agreement the Respondent claims damaged him. The Respondent is unable to point to any law that provides for the tolling of the statute of limitations under the facts as presented in this matter. Therefore, the court erred in failing to grant a directed verdict, and later a judgment notwithstanding the verdict, to the Appellant.

The law is settled, actions involving contracts must be commenced within three years from when the contract is breached or broken and are tolled under only very specific circumstances. Statutes of limitations embody important public policy considerations in that they stimulate activity, punish negligence, and promote repose by giving security and stability to human affairs. See *Anonymous Taxpayer v. South Carolina Dept. of Revenue*, 377 S.C. 425, 661 S.E.2d 73 (2008). The period of time for commencing an action involving contracts is prescribed by S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530. It provides for a three-year statute of limitations for a cause of action accruing on or after April 5, 1988. A cause of action is barred if it is not brought within the appropriate period. South Carolina law holds that the statute of limitations begins to run at the time the cause of action accrues. *Harvey v. S.C. Dep't. of Corr.*, 338 S.C. 500, 527 S.E.2d 765 (S.C. Ct. App. 2000). The fundamental test for determining whether a cause of action has accrued is whether the party asserting the claim can maintain an action to enforce it. *Id.* Thus, a particular cause of action accrues “ at the moment when the plaintiff has a legal right to sue on it.” *Id.* 388 S.C. at 508, 527 S.E.2d at 769. Under contract law, the terms of the agreement determines the moment the plaintiff has a legal right to sue. See *State v. McClinton*, 369 S.C. 167, 631 S.E.2d 895 (2006)(The court held that a breach of contract action *usually* accrues at the

time a contract is breached or broken). Thus, a court looks to the contract terms in determining when the cause of action accrues. *Id.* Here, the Court and the Parties agree that the cause of action accrued, at the latest, upon the Appellant's failure to pay the principal on November 5, 2011. Thus, the statute ran on November 5, 2014 and the Respondent's claim is barred.

The law is equally well settled in relation to when and how the statute of limitations for an action for breach of contract may be tolled. An acknowledgment or promise contained in a writing signed by the party to be charged is considered sufficient evidence of a new or continuing contract so as to remove the case from the operation of the statute of limitations. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-120.<sup>1</sup> Further, any payment of principal or interest is considered equivalent to a written promise. *Id.* Under South Carolina law, "[i]t is not necessary, in order to toll the running of the statute of limitations, that such payment be in actual money." *Wolfe v. Brannon*, 211 S.C. 282, 287, 44 S.E.2d 833, 835 (1947). "An agreement between the payee and maker to apply as a credit on the note a debt owing by the payee to the maker, or an agreement to credit the note on account of goods delivered by the maker to the payee or services rendered to him, is sufficient for the purpose of interrupting the running of the statute of limitations." *Id.* The agreement between the payee and the maker "may be implied as well as expressed, but it must amount to an **unqualified** admission of a subsisting legal liability and must be established by evidence **unambiguous and full.**" *Black v. White*, 13 S.C. 37, 40 (S.C.1880)(emphasis added). Reviving a stale debt requires

---

<sup>1</sup> This statute was enacted in 1870 and its relevant text has not changed. "The main purpose of enacting the statute was to require the new promise to be in writing, as previous common law would sometimes permit revival upon an oral promise." *In re Vaughn*, 536 B.R. 670, 678 (Bankr. D.S.C. 2015)(finding previous common law cases with regards to revival still apply to the statute)(citing *Hill v. Hill*, 51 S.C. 134, 28 S.E. 309, 312 (1897)(noting that the new statute "does not change the pre-existing law as to what acknowledgment will continue a debt barred.")).

“an **express** promise to pay, or such **unqualified and unequivocal** admission that the debt is still due, unaccompanied by any expression indicative of an intention not to pay” *Hill*, 51 S.C. at 134, 28 S.E. at 312 (emphasis added). Thus, when a party expressly admits the debt exists, but in doing so also expressly states he will not pay the debt, instead stating the debt will “come in to be paid with my other debts,” then the debt is not revived. *Horlbeck v. Hunt*, 26 S.C.L. 197, 201 (S.C.Ct.App.1841). Any alleged payment must be “shown to have been made with the knowledge and consent of [the parties], or that [they] about the time of the entry [intended] such credits as payments upon the claim or note.” *Bulcken v. Rhode*, 81 S.C. 503, 62 S.E. 786, 787 (1908)(noting that the result barring a claim “may seem hard, but the statute is imperative, and it is [the court’s] duty to enforce it”).

An “unqualified and unequivocal” admission of the debt shown through evidence that is “unambiguous and full” is required to toll the statute, not, as the trial court held, “any evidence that supports” a finding that the Collateral was taken and applied against the debt with the acquiescence of the Appellant. The court erroneously held that there remained a question of fact for the jury to determine regarding whether there was a voluntary acknowledgment of a liability by the Appellant in writing that would toll the statute of limitations. The Respondent asserted on multiple occasions that the “voluntary” payment was evidenced by the Respondent’s taking the collateral (R.p. 149, lines 20-21), (R.p. 167, lines 23-25), (R.p. 168, line 20), (R.p. 169, lines 1-6), (R.p. 177, lines 11-14), and that the Appellant did not want the Respondent to take it (R.p. 150, lines 1-2) True the Respondent asserted the taking was consented to, only to later argue the consent should be evidenced by the Appellant’s failure to object by filing an action in a court of law (R.p. 179, line 23) But this does not meet the standard required under South Carolina law.

At best, the Respondent testified that the only thing the Respondent did in regards to the transfer of the collateral and the application of credit to the amount allegedly owed by Appellant was to make what is best described as a book entry. Such an act has been held to not qualify as the type of payment or writing necessary to toll the statute. See *Bulcken*, supra.

This is in fact how the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals in *Zaks v. Elliott*, ruled, a case in which the Fourth Circuit reversed the U.S. District Court for the District of South Carolina. 106 F.2d 425, 427 (4th Cir. 1939). The Fourth Circuit ruled that “the application of the proceeds from the sale of the remaining collateral” did not amount to “voluntary payments” by the obligor sufficient to toll the period of limitations on the note. The court went on to state:

It is established in South Carolina that partial payment on a note within the six year period immediately preceding the bringing of an action therein will remove the bar of the statute. But, apparently, the question of whether application to the debt by the creditor of the proceeds from the sale of collateral deposited with a note is such a payment as will toll the statute has never been decided in South Carolina. According to the great weight of authority, an application to the debt by the creditor of the proceeds from the sale of collateral will not have this effect because the payment is not voluntary on the part of the debtor. ‘The principle on which part payment takes a case out of the statute is, that the party paying intended by it to acknowledge and admit the greater debt to be due. If it was not in the mind of the debtor to do this, then the statute, having begun to run, will not be stopped by reason of such payment.’ We think that the reasoning of these decisions is to be preferred to that of the North Carolina and Nebraska cases on which the District Judge relied.

Id. (Citations omitted). The purpose of S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-120 was not enacted to allow oral testimony that a new understanding had taken place in regards to the debt, but to allow the tolling of the statute only in those instances in which there is “unambiguous and full” evidence of an “unqualified and unequivocal” admission of the debt. Thus, the district court’s reliance upon any such application of credit to toll the statute of limitations was misplaced and this Court should

reverse the Order of the Court denying directed verdict in favor of the Appellant.

**B. The Uniform Commercial Code Precluded Judgment For the Respondent**

The trial court erroneously held that the uniform commercial code did not apply to the matters before the jury because the Appellant did not specifically plead that the uniform commercial code applied to the matter in his Answer. South Carolina law does not provide for such a waiver of legal principals. The trial court had the responsibility to charge the jury with the complete law applicable to the matter, irregardless of whether the Appellant directly cited to that law in his Answer. This erroneous decision by the trial court precluded the jury from hearing a charge of the law that the actions of the Respondent precluded his recovery under the loan. Thus, the Appellant should be granted a new trial.

“When instructing the jury, the trial court is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina.” *Cohens v. Atkins*, 333 S.C. 345, 349, 509 S.E.2d 286, 289 (Ct.App.1998). “The substance of the law is what must be instructed to the jury, not any particular verbiage.... A jury charge which is substantially correct and covers the law does not require reversal.” *Burroughs v. Worsham*, 352 S.C. 382, 391, 574 S.E.2d 215, 220 (Ct.App.2002). When reviewing a jury charge for alleged error, the appellate court must consider the charge as a whole in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial. *Daves v. Cleary*, 355 S.C. 216, 224, 584 S.E.2d 423, 427 (Ct.App.2003). If the charge is reasonably free from error, isolated portions which might be misleading do not constitute reversible error. *Id.* “To warrant reversal for refusal to give a requested instruction, the refusal must have not only been erroneous, but prejudicial as well.” *Cohens*, 333 S.C. at 349, 509 S.E.2d at 289; see also *Daves*, 355 S.C. at

224, 584 S.E.2d at 427 (stating a circuit court's refusal to give a properly requested charge is reversible error only when the requesting party can demonstrate prejudice from the refusal).

Not only should the trial court have granted a directed verdict based upon the evidence regarding Respondent's conduct towards the Collateral, it erred in not charging the jury with the applicable South Carolina law. At trial, the trial court denied the Appellants request to apply and charge the jury with the law concerning the rights of a payee when a lender undertakes certain rights against pledged collateral. The trial court held that "if you haven't pled" the law included within the South Carolina Uniform Commercial Code (the "UCC") regulating the rights of a payee in the response to the complaint, the Respondent "doesn't have to respond to it." (R.p. 232, lines 5-6) The South Carolina Commercial Code precluded a judgment in favor of the Respondent. These errors of the trial court should result in a reversal of the judgment entered by the trial court and judgment being held in favor of the Appellant.

South Carolina law did not require the Appellant to specifically plead the application of the UCC. Under South Carolina law, a party in replying to a pleading shall affirmatively set forth his or her defenses. Rule 8(c), SCRCF. "Every defense, in law or fact, to a cause of action in any pleading ... shall be asserted in the responsive pleading thereto...." Rule 12(b), SCRCF; see also *Strickland v. Strickland*, 375 S.C. 76, 85, 650 S.E.2d 465, 470 (2007) ("[A]ffirmative defenses to a cause of action in any pleading must generally be asserted in a party's responsive pleading."). "The failure to plead an affirmative defense is deemed a waiver of the right to assert it." *Whitehead v. State*, 352 S.C. 215, 220, 574 S.E.2d 200, 202 (2002). What constitutes an affirmative defense is explicitly defined by the Rules. The following defenses are required by law to be affirmatively plead in a response:

accord and satisfaction, arbitration and award, assumption of risk, condonation, contributory negligence, discharge in bankruptcy, duress, fraud, illegality, injury by fellow servant, laches, license, misrepresentation, mistake, payment, plene administravit or the administration of the estate is closed, recrimination, release, res judicata, statute of frauds, statute of limitations, waiver, and any other matter constituting an avoidance or affirmative defense.

Rule 8(C) SCRCPP. Importantly, nowhere in this litany of defenses does the application of the UCC to the conduct of the Respondent reside. Nor does the application of the UCC act as a matter constituting avoidance or some other “affirmative” defense.

The South Carolina Supreme Court in *Moore v. New S. Exp. Lines*, expounded on what is necessarily an “affirmative” defense, holding

a fundamental principle of pleading under the Code [is] that every fact must be affirmatively [plead] by the party who is first required to prove it, and that no new matter can be offered in evidence by a defendant who has simply denied plaintiff's allegations, unless it tends to disprove a fact to be in the first instance affirmatively established by the plaintiff.

184 S.C. 266, 192 S.E. 261, 262 (1937)(citing *Kirby v. Gulf Ref. Co.*, 173 S.C. 224, 175 S.E. 535, 536 (1934)). Thus, the Appellant is required to “affirmatively” plead those facts he is first required to prove.

The Appellant sufficiently plead an issue concerning the sale of collateral so as to raise any necessary allegation concerning the rights relating thereto. The Respondent's Complaint makes a very brief assertion concerning the Appellant's alleged breach of contract without so much as mentioning, yet alone providing, a reduction in the principal amount for the sale of collateral. The Appellant's answer specifically pled that “[Respondent] must account to [Appellant] and be required to [credit Appellant] for the difference between the value of [the Collateral] and the amount of the alleged debt.” This assertion is enough to raise the issue

concerning the Respondent's acting in accordance with the laws regulating a debtor taking collateral. See *Robinson v. Code*, 384 S.C. 582, 585, 682 S.E.2d 495, 496 (Ct. App. 2009) ("Where a pleading is attacked for an alleged failure to state a cause of action, the pleading must be liberally construed in favor of the pleader and sustained if the facts and reasonable inferences to be drawn therefrom entitle the pleader to relief on any theory of the case." citing *Burns v. Wannamaker*, 286 S.C. 336, 339, 333 S.E.2d 358, 360 (Ct.App.1985)). Thus, any affirmative duty should be found to have been met by the Appellant.

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