IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM Horry COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2016-CP-26-1961
Appellate Case No. 2018-000852

RECEIVED
MAR 25 2019
SC Court of Appeals

S. Scott Porter, Individually and as Co-Trustee of the Stanley
S. Scott Porter Trust UA dated January 2, 1991, a member of
Peaceful Lane MHP, LLCRespondent,

v.

Kenneth Hucks, Individually and as a member and formerly
designated manager of Peaceful Lane MHP, LLCAppellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Thomas C. Brittain (SC Bar #00893)
Mary Madison Brittain Langway (SC Bar #73722)
The Brittain Law Firm
4614 Oleander Drive

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

Here, the trial court found that there was evidence in the record to support Respondent's assertion that the statute had been tolled by the action of the parties, and therefore properly denied Appellant's motion for a directed verdict. Likewise, the Appellate Court in reviewing the lower court's decision must find that there was no evidence to support his ruling in order to reverse it. Clearly, there is sufficient evidence in the record to support the lower court's decision to allow the

issue of the tolling of the statute of limitations to be decided upon by the jury. In ruling on motions for directed verdict or judgment notwithstanding the verdict, the trial court is required to view the evidence and the inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motions. The trial court must deny the motions when the evidence yields more than one inference, or when its inference is in doubt. *Steinke v. South Carolina Dep't of Labor, Licensing & Reg.*, 336 S.C. 373, 386, 520 S.E.2d 142, 148 (1999). If the evidence as a whole is susceptible of more than one reasonable inference, a jury issue is created, and the motion should have been denied. *Jinks v. Richland County*, 355 S.C. 341, 345, 585 S.E.2d 281, 283 (2003); *Adams v. G.J. Creel Sons, Inc.*, 320 S.C. 274, 277, 465 S.E.2d 84, 85 (1995). In deciding whether to grant or deny a directed verdict motion, the trial court is concerned only with the existence or nonexistence of evidence. *Pond Place Partners, Inc. v. Poole*, 351 S.C. 1, 15, 567 S.E.2d 881, 888 (Ct.App.2002).

This Court will reverse only where there is no evidence to support the trial court's ruling, or where the ruling was controlled by an error of law. *Clark v. S.C. Dep't of Public Safety*, 362 S.C. 377, 382-83, 608 S.E.2d 573, 576 (2005); *Steinke v. S.C. Dep't of Labor, Licensing Regulation*, 336 S.C. 373, 386, 520 S.E.2d 142, 148 (1999); *Abu-Shawareb v. S.C. State Univ.*, 364 S.C. 358, 613 S.E.2d 757 (Ct.App.2005); *Welch v. Epstein*, 342 S.C. 279, 300, 536 S.E.2d 408, 418 (Ct.App.2000). Essentially, this Court must resolve whether it would be reasonably conceivable to have a verdict for a party opposing the motion under the facts as liberally construed in the opposing party's favor. *Harvey v. Strickland*, 350 S.C. 303, 309, 566 S.E.2d 529, 532 (2002); *Hanahan v. Simpson*, 326 S.C. 140, 149, 485 S.E.2d 903, 908 (1997).

The Respondent testified about the continuing nature of Appellant's promise to pay, about their agreement that Respondent would relieve Appellant of his debt obligations to Conway

National bank in exchange for 50% interest in PLMHP company, and an e-mail signifying this agreement, as well. (R. pp. 293-294) As such, the lower court did not err in denying Appellant's motion for directed verdict.

Appellant did not properly preserve for appeal his new argument that an "unqualified and unequivocal admission of the debt is shown through evidence that is unambiguous and full is required to toll the statute. The Court and both attorneys spent a good amount of time devoted to formulating the jury charges. At no point did Appellant request this particular language to be included in the jury charge. Nor at any point did he argue this issue before the lower court. As such, this issue was not raised and ruled upon by the trial Judge and therefore was not properly preserved, and it is not properly before the Appellate Court, therefore this Court should affirm the lower court's ruling in a Rule 220 (c), SCACR Opinion. To preserve an issue for review there must be a contemporaneous objection that is ruled upon by the trial court. *State v. Johnson*, 324 S.C. 38, 41, 476 S.E.2d 681, 682 (1996). The objection should be addressed to the trial court in a sufficiently specific manner that brings attention to the exact error. *State v. Prioleau*, 345 S.C. 404, 411, 548 S.E.2d 213, 216 (2001). If a party fails to properly object, the party is procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal. *State v. Pauling*, 322 S.C. 95, 99, 470 S.E.2d 106, 109 (1996).

In addition, Appellant's attorney agreed to the specific language that would be included in the jury charge with respect to the statute of limitations. The attorney's main point of disagreement was over including the word "voluntary" or "acquiesced" with respect to the payment and the lower court took both attorney's request and included both the word "voluntary" and "acquiesced." As such, Appellant's attorney did not properly preserve the statute of limitations issue for appeal. While he argued the issue many times in the form of a summary judgment motion and a directed verdict motion, he ultimately came to an agreement with the Court as to the language that would

be in the jury charges, and therefore did not form a specific and proper contemporaneous objection to the jury charge regarding the statute of limitations. Moreover, Appellant's attorney seems to concede that the jury is not likely to find that the statute of limitations had run. (R. p. 229)

Appellant's argument fails on several grounds: First, it was not properly preserved and can be disposed of in a Rule 220 (c), SCACR type opinion based on lack of preservation. Second, even if this Court finds that it was properly preserved, this Court should still affirm the lower court because the trial Judge did not err in denying Appellant's motion for directed verdict or in allowing the Jury to determine whether the statute was tolled by the actions of the parties.

II. THIS CASE DOES NOT INVOLVE THE UCC, NOR WAS EITHER PARTY REQUIRED TO FOLLOW THE UCC GUIDELINES, AND THEREFORE THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY CHARGED THE JURY WITH RESPECT TO THE LAW OF THE CASE, WHICH WAS BREACH OF CONTRACT.

This action involves two unsophisticated persons who were in business together owning and operating a mobile home park. They executed a simple promissory note (R. pp. 287-292) with very simple language reflecting the terms controlling their purchase of real estate and a business wherein they would own and operate mobile homes. At no point in their relationship did either party mention the Uniform Commercial Code, nor did their contract refer to or mention the Uniform Commercial Code. At no point, in his Answer, Counterclaim, or discovery did Appellant mention the Uniform Commercial Code or that he believed this transaction was subject to the UCC. Appellant's attorney first mentioned this during his motion for directed verdict.

Appellant characterizes Respondent receiving the 50% interest in PLMHP, as a "taking of collateral" that triggers the UCC and an obligation on the part of Respondent to show that if there was a commercially reasonable sale, amount recovered under that sale would have been less than the debt. Appellant made this argument during his motion for directed verdict, and the trial court properly held that there was evidence in the record to support Respondent's assertion that this was not a taking of collateral, but an agreement between two parties wherein Appellant would give Respondent his 50% interest in PLMHP, in exchange for Respondent taking on the all the debt with Conway National Bank, i.e. releasing Appellant from his obligation to Conway National Bank, and the value of Appellants 50% interest would then serve as a payment to Respondent on the outstanding monies owed to Respondent. This was not the culmination of a legal process. The 50% ownership interest was a payment towards the outstanding balance that Appellant owed to Respondent. There was certainly evidence in the record to support the jury finding that the 50%

ownership interest was voluntarily given to Respondent by Appellant in return for Respondent relieving Appellant of his obligations to Conway National Bank, and that value of the 50% interest in the company was a payment from Appellant to Respondent on the outstanding debt. As such, there is no sale, and there need not be any commercially reasonable sale. It doesn't make sense that Respondent would sell Appellant's 50% interest in a business that he already owned the other 50% of. It makes sense that he would receive the 50% interest in the company, and by virtue of doing that, be the sole owner, and relieve Appellant of his obligations to Conway National Bank, and then credit Appellant for the value of the 50% interest he received from him.

As Judge Hyman stated, if Appellant was not in agreement that Respondent was to receive his 50% interest in the Company, then he would have/could have/should have instituted legal proceedings to stop him from taking over his company. Such a legal proceeding would be evidence that Respondent in fact "took" as in a "taking" of his business interest against his will. But that did not happen and that was not the testimony; the testimony supports Respondent's assertion that the 50% interest in the Company was transferred to Respondent by the consent of Appellant, and therefore the value of Appellant's 50% interest was to be a payment to Respondent towards the monies owed to him pursuant to their contract.

Appellant's UCC argument is essentially a red herring and complicates the very simple and straightforward facts of this case. The UCC, as the trial court explained, is designed to prevent collusion in the regard that the "collateral" is sold to some third party and it is sold for less than it is worth *i.e.* not in a reasonable commercial manner. There was no sale here, there was no judicial process started, there was no collusion. Neither party testified that they intended this transaction to be controlled by the Uniform Commercial Code, or even knew what that was. This is a simple breach of contract case, and therefore the lower court properly denied Appellant's motion for

directed verdict and did not err in failing to properly charge the jury with respect to the Uniform Commercial Code.

In addition, Appellant's reasoning for the necessity of the Uniform Commercial Code is based upon the statutory requirement that a sale must be commercially reasonable, or the debtor loses the ability to claim efficiency. Here, there was no sale and no judicial process begun so the statute doesn't even apply. There was nothing introduced into evidence that required Respondent to sell it. As such, the trial court properly denied Appellant's motion for directed verdict and his motion for JNOV because this case did not require a jury instruction on the Uniform Commercial Code. The trial court properly held that Appellant's counsel was welcome to argue to the Jury that Respondent breached the contract by not selling the interest. But, again, it is a decision for the Jury to make and it is not a matter of law that Respondent was required to sell this interest in a commercially reasonable manner pursuant to the UCC. The Jury found that the evidence put before it proved Respondent's claim that he took over Appellant's 50% interest in company, with the consent of Appellant, and that the value of Appellant's 50% interest would constitute a payment on the monies owed to Respondent pursuant to the contract.

III. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING HEARSAY EVIDENCE, AS SUCH EVIDENCE WAS ADMISSIBLE PURSUANT TO THE BUSINESS RECORDS EXCEPTION AND WAS NOT OFFERED FOR THE TRUTH OF THE MATTER ASSERTED. FURTHERMORE, SUCH EVIDENCE WAS CUMULATIVE AND THEREFORE EVEN IF THIS COURT FINDS IT WAS ADMITTED IN ERROR, SUCH ERROR WOULD BE HARMLESS ERROR, AS THERE WAS OTHER EVIDENCE TO SUBSTANTIATE THE JURY'S VERDICT.

Appellant contends that the trial court erroneously allowed the Respondent to put into evidence hearsay that was contained in the form of an e-mail. Appellant introduced this e-mail by handing the document to Respondent while he was on the witness stand and asking him to identify it, which he identified as an e-mail between the parties (Respondent and Appellant). It was marked Defendant's exhibit 1, without objection from Respondent's counsel. (R. p. 180, line 14-p. 182, line 7). Appellant's counsel then questioned Respondent about the e-mail and what it said. (R. p. 182, line 8-p. 183, line 6). At the close of Appellant's questioning of Respondent, Respondent's attorney specifically asked if the document had been put into evidence, and Appellant's attorney responded, "I believe I have." (R. p. 187, lines 4-7). Respondent's attorney then questioned Respondent about the e-mail and then in an abundance of caution, also moved to have it introduced into evidence as Plaintiff's exhibit 2. At this point, Appellant's counsel objected on the grounds of hearsay. (R. p. 188, lines 18-22) The trial court allowed the document finding that it was a business record between the parties and something that was discussed in the normal course of business, and therefore allowed it to be introduced into evidence. (R. p. 188, line 23-p. 189 line 2)

First, this issue is not properly before this Court. Not only did Appellant fail to make a contemporaneous objection to this document being introduced, he actually introduced it himself and, even if he did so originally for identification purposes, he stated that he believed it had been introduced into evidence. (R. p. 187, lines 4-7). Respondent's counsel, in an abundance of caution, moved to introduce it as Plaintiff's Exhibit 2 to make sure the e-mail was properly before the trial

court as evidence. Appellant's counsel cannot now come before this Court and argue that it was improperly introduced. As such, this issue was not properly preserved for review and, this Court should affirm the trial court's ruling in a Rule 220(c), SCACR style opinion on the grounds that it is not properly before this Court for review. To preserve an issue for review there must be a contemporaneous objection that is ruled upon by the trial court. *State v. Johnson*, 324 S.C. 38, 41, 476 S.E.2d 681, 682 (1996). The objection should be addressed to the trial court in a sufficiently specific manner that brings attention to the exact error. *State v. Prioleau*, 345 S.C. 404, 411, 548 S.E.2d 213, 216 (2001). If a party fails to properly object, the party is procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal. *State v. Pauling*, 322 S.C. 95, 99, 470 S.E.2d 106, 109 (1996).

If this Court finds that it this issue was properly preserved, and reviews the merits of Appellant's argument, this Court should still affirm the trial court's ruling because (1) the document was introduced by Appellant, and Rule 106, SCRE allows the remainder of the document to come in to evidence as well; (2) the document is not hearsay because it was not offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted; (3) the document is not hearsay because it falls within an exception to hearsay as outlined in Rule 803(6), SCRE (a business record that is regularly kept in the normal course of business); and (4) even if the evidence was improperly admitted the evidence was cumulative and therefore any error was harmless.

Appellant introduced this e-mail, asked Respondent about it, asked him to read part of it, and then attempted to keep the parts of the e-mail he did not want the jury to see, from coming into evidence. Appellants cannot pick and choose parts of a document to be introduced, Rule 106, SCRE (known as the "Completeness Rule," states: when a writing, or recorded statement, or part thereof is introduced by a party, an adverse party may require the introduction at that time of any other part or any other writing or recorded statement which ought in fairness to be considered